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This case arises from the refusal by théeddants Endonovo Therapeutics, Inc. (“Endonovo”)
and Alan Collier (“Collier” and collectively, the “Defendants”) to comply with a request by the
Plaintiff Vis Vires Group, Inc(the “Plaintiff”) to convert $15,000 of the $66,000 in principal
remaining due under promissory notes issuedrmjoBovo to the Plaintiff into shares of Endonovo’s
common stock.

On January 29, 2016, the Plaintiff commenced this action by filing a complaint seeking
monetary damages in the amount of $132,000 as wetj@table relief in théorm of a preliminary
and permanent injunction direntj the Defendants and their agemotsimmediately take all steps
necessary and proper to permit casi@n of debt to stock and teliver the stock at issue.”

Also on January 29, 2016, the Plaintiff filed, bylerto show cause, a request for a temporary

restraining order (“TRQO”) and pliminary injunction directing the Defendants to comply with the

Plaintiff’'s notice of conversion.
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On January 29, 2016, the Court denied the Riesninotion for a TRO and requested oral
argument and additional briefingga&rding the Plaintiff’'s motion foa preliminary injunction.

On February 16, 2016, the Court heard oral agntron the Plaintiff’'s motion and granted the
parties’ requests for further bfieg. The Plaintiff's mdion for a preliminary injunction is now fully
briefed.

For the reasons set forth below, the Couriethe Plaintiff’'s motion for a preliminary
injunction

. BACKGROUND

The Plaintiff is engaged in the “businessrafesting in small capitadation companies which
are generally traded on the ‘over the countarket.” (Kramer Aff. at 1 3.)

The Defendant Endonovo “develop|es] bio&tanics devices and therapies for regenerative
medicine.” (Collier Aff. at 1 4.)

The Plaintiff made three loats the Defendants: (i) on JuneZ15, the Plaintiff made a loan
to the Defendants in the principal amount of $38,Qid0pn July 9, 2015, the Plaintiff made a loan to
the Defendants in the principal amount of $33,@0@ (iii) on August 10, 2015, the Plaintiff made a
loan to the Defendants in the principal amour$38,000. (See Kramer Aff. at  10; Collier Aff. at
8.)

In connection with each loathe parties executed a securities agreement and Endonovo issued
a promissory note to the Defendanti support of its present motiaine Plaintiff attaches a copy of
a July 9, 2015 Securities Purch@ggreement entered into by the pes (the “July 2015 SPA”) and a
promissory note issued by the Defendants in fafdine Plaintiff, also dated July 9, 2015, which
memorializes the terms of the second loan (they“dQlL5 Note”). (See Kramer Aff., Exs. A, B.) The
Plaintiff does not offer the loan documents memoitiradjzhe first and third loans. However, it states

— and the Defendants do not appteadispute — that the loan documents for the second and third



loans are “identical” with the exception of the effectivéedaof the loans and the “maturity dates” —
namely, when the full principal amounts of tharie are due._(See Kramer Aff. at 1 9.)

Under the terms of the July 2015 SPAe Blaintiff agreed to pay Endonovo $33,000 in
exchange for the issuance of a “8% convertgstemissory note” on the part of Endonovo in the
aggregate principal amount of $33,000, which wasettconvertible inteshares of common stock,
$0.0001 par value per share[Bhdonovo], upon the terms and seitjto the limitations and
conditions set forth in such Note.” (Kranm&ff., Ex. B, at Art. 1, at pp. 1, 20.)

In compliance with the tersnof the SPA, Endonovo issued the July 2015 Note under which it
promised to pay the Plaintiff the principal amoun$88,000, plus interest at a rate of 8% per year, by
April 13, 2016, the maturity date of the Note. (See Kramer Aff., Ex. A, at p. 1.)

Of importance, Article 1.1 of the July 2015 Note states:

The [Plaintiff] shall have the right from time to time, and at any time during the period

beginning on the date which is one hundrE8D] days following the date of this Note

and ending on the later of: {He Maturity date and (ithe date of payment of the

Default Amount (as defined in Article I1l) purant to Section 1.6(a) or Article Ill, each

in respect of the remaining outstanding piatiamount of this Not convert all or

any part of the outstanding and unpaid prinicgmaount of this Noténto fully paid and

non-assessable shares of Common Stock existise Issue Date, or any shares of

capital stock or other secties of [Endonovo] . . . determined as provided herein (a

‘Conversion’); provided, howevethat in no event shall ¢h{Plaintiff] be entitled to

convert . . . the number of shares oh@oon Stock . . . [which] would result in

beneficial ownership by the [Plaintiff] and its affiliates of more than 9.99% of the

outstanding shares of Common Stock.
(Id. at Art. 1.1, at p. 2.)

Further, Article 1.2 sets forth a formula falculating the conversn price of the Common
Stock which gives the Plaintiff a 42% discount oa fiesent “Market Price” of the stock, defined as
“the average of the lowest three (3) Trading €sifor the Common Stockiuring the 15 trading days
prior to the date of the Conversi. (Id. at Art.1.2(a), at p. 3.)

Under Article 1.4 of the July 2015 Note, ortbe Plaintiff provides Endonovo with a proper

Notice of Conversion, Endonovo must “issue” or “catgsbe issued” the appropriate amount of

Common Stock to the Plaintiff within three busealays after receivingdtNotice of Conversion.
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(Id. at Art. 1.4(d), at pp. 5-6.n this respect, “[Endonovo’s] obligation to issue and deliver the
certificates of Common Stkeshall be absolute anthconditionall.]” (Id. at At. 1.4(e), at p. 6.)

In the event that Endomio fails to issue th€ommon Stock to the Plaifftwithin the three-day
deadline, the Note provides that Endonovo must paythintiff “$2,000 per dain cash, for each day
beyond the Deadline that the Borrowaits to deliver such Common Stock . . ., [which] shall be
added to the principal amount of this Note, in vlhéwen interest shaltarue thereon in accordance
with the terms of this Note.(ld. at Art. 1.4(e)at pp. 6-7.)

Further, Article Il sets fortlzertain “events of default” undéne Note, which include, (i) the
failure by Endonovo to “issue shares of Common IStodhe [Plaintiff] . . . upon exercise by the
[Plaintiff] of [its] conversion rigks”; (ii) the failure by Endonovo to “transfer or cause its transfer
agent to transfer (issue) . .nyacertificate of shares of Common Stock issued to the [Plaintiff] upon
conversion of . . . this Note”; ar{di) efforts by Endonovo to “direct[] & transfer agent not to transfer
..... any certificate for sharesCommon Stock to be issued to the [Plaintiff] upon conversion . . . of
this Note.” (Id. at Art. 3.2, p. 14-15.) Upon theeorrence of a default ¢iie above-provisions, “the
Note shall become immediately daed payable and the borrower shall pay to the holder, in full
satisfaction of its obligations hereunder, an amoguoakto . . . the default sum . . . multiplied by 2.”
(Id. at Art. 3.16, at p. 17.)

Article 11l also specifies that Endonovo “@eflts” under the Note ifi]n the event that
[Endonovo] proposes to replace its ster agent, [Endonovo] fails togride, prior to the effective
date of such replacement, a fullyecuted Irrevocable Transfer Ingttions [sic].” (Id. at Art 3.15, at
p. 16.) If Endonovo defaults underdiprovision, the Note also “becomes immediately due and
payable,” and Endonovo must also make additional patgterthe Plaintiff, including the “greater of
... 150% times the sum of . . . the then outstandimgipal amount of this Notplus . . . accrued and
unpaid interest on the unpaid principal amount of thieN@ the date of payment . . . or . . . the higher

number of shares of Common Stock issuable upon conversion of to such Default Sum in accordance



with Article | . . ._multiplied by . . . the higheS®losing Price for the Common Stock during the period
beginning on the date of first occurrence of vent of Default[.]” (Id. at Art. 3.16, at p. 17)
(emphasis in original).

Finally, under Article 4.10 of the Note, Endond\acknlowedg[ed] that the remedy at law for a
breach of its obligations under this Note will be ieqdate and agrees . . atlthe [Plaintiff] will be
entitled . . . to an injunction or imgtions restraining, preventing or augiany breach of this Note[.]”
(Id. at Art. 4.10, at p. 21.)

On an unspecified date, the Defendants paitk the $38,000 in principand interest due to
the Plaintiff under the June 9, 2015n0a(See Kramer Aff. at  11.)

On January 21, 2016, Judah Eistiesg. (“Eisner”), an attorney peesenting the Plaintiff, sent
an email to Endonovo attaching a Notice of Conversiaonnection with the July 2015 Note. (See
Kramer Aff., EX. G.) The Notice stated that ®laintiff “hereby elects” to convert $15,000 of the
$33,000 due under the July 2015 Note into 95,663 shares of common stakat\arsion price of
$.1568 per share._(Id.) Following the convers#i8,000 in principal would be left remaining due
under the July 2015 Note. (Id.)

On January 25, 2016, the Defendant Collier semnaail to Seth Kramer, the Vice President of
the Plaintiff (“Kramer”),in which he stated:

This conversion create a ugwus transaction. My company cannot be part of such a

conspiracy against the shareholders ahdratebt holders of Endonovo and as such |

have to deny your request.

The highest rate for this typd transaction in the State New York is 16% per annum.

The amount of shares you requested in the conversion notice dated 1/21/16 far exceeds

the allowable interest rate. 95,663 shares from $15,000 is $29,657, 197%!

(Collier Aff. at 9 7.)
Subsequently, in a January 25, 2016 lett€dblier, Bernard S. Feldman, Esqg., another

attorney representing the Plaintiffienied that the July 2015 Note swasurious. (See Kramer Aff., EX.

H, at p. 1-2) In addition, Feldman noted)V]e understand that [Endonovaipon your instruction,



replaced its transfer agent toe@t Trust LLC without the requirezkecutive Irrevocable Transfer
Instructions . . . which is an Event of Default pansuto Section 3.15 of the Note.” (Id. at p. 2.)
Accordingly, Feldman demanded, on behalf of treerféff, that Endonovo (i) “immediately cause the
Notice to be effective and the umbyeng shares of commostock of the Company issued to Vis Vires
without any restrictive lgend . . . ; and (ii) that you and Clear Trust LLC enter into an Irrevocable
Transfer Agent Instructions which sets forth ppra@priate share reserve puastito the terms of the
Note.” (Id.) Feldman further advised Collier tHat the absence of the issuance of the requisite
shares, within three (3) business days of the afatee Notice, we have been instructed by [the
Plaintiff] to commence litigation.” _(Id.)

Endonovo did not comply with the Plaintiff’soneest to convert $15,000 $ debt under the
July 2015 Note into common stock.

As aresult, and as noted pi@ysly, on January 29, 2016, theikiff commenced this action
by filing a complaint and a motion for a TR@dapreliminary injunctn (i) “[e]njoining and
restraining the [D]efendants andethagents, servants and employeetuding but not limited to [the]
[Dlefendants’ transfer agent, &ir Trust LLC, from interferingyith, prejudicing, or impeding the
efforts by [the] [P]laintiff to onvert the debt that it holds abligee against Endonovo Therapeutics,
Inc. into stock of Endonovo Therapeutics, Ingi); “[d]irecting EndonovoTherapeutics, Inc. to
execute such issuance resolutions or other doctsnas are required téfectuate the conversion
process from debt to stock as referenced abdi@™;[d]irecting Endonovo Tkerapeutics, Inc. and its
transfer agent Clear Trust LLC to issue the shaequested by [the]d®htiff's January 21, 2016
Notice of Conversion and to expeditiously pregall future Notices of Conversions submitted by
Plaintiff and to issue the shanepresented by such conversionsiddiv) “[g]ranting the [P]laintiff
such other and further relief as to the Court mensjust and proper.”_(See Proposed Order to Show

Cause, Dkt. No. 3.).



1. DISCUSSION
It is well-established that “[tle District Court may grant agdiminary injunction if the moving
party establishes ‘(a) irreparaltharm and (b) either (1) likelihood of success on the merits or (2)
sufficiently serious questions going to the mentsnake them a fair gund for litigation and a
balance of hardships tipping decidetthward the party requesting the preliminary relief.” Christian

Louboutin S.A. v. Yves Saint Laurent Am. Halds, Inc., 696 F.3d 206, 215 (2d Cir. 2012) (quoting

UBS Fin. Servs., Inc. v. W. Va. Univ. Hasplnc., 660 F.3d 643, 648 (2d Cir. 2011)).

In the present case, the Plaintiff asserts thatrpmary relief is warranted because (i) it is
likely to succeed in its breach of contract anddad interference claims against the Defendants; and
(i) it will suffer irreparable harnif preliminary relief is denieddxcause it contends that Endonovo is
on the brink of insolvency, and there is a distpassibility that it will be unable to satisfy any
monetary judgment if the Plaintiff succeeds at tridhe Pl.’s Mem. of Law, Dkt. No. 4, at 6-10.)

In response, the Defendants as#wat preliminary relief is novarranted because (i) the Court
lacks subject matter jurisdiction over the Plaintitflaims; (ii) the Defendants are not insolvent and
therefore, the Plaintiff has failed to establish irrapée harm; (iii) the Plaintiff's state law claims are
unlikely to succeed because the July 2015 SPA andatetesurious, the oussiding loans have not
yet become due, and Curt Kramer, the Plaintgfesident, entered into a settlement with the
Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) iuarelated matter. (The Defs.” Opp’n Mem. of
Law, Dkt. No. 23, at 2-8.)

As set forth below, the Court finds that thaiRtiff has not adequateljemonstrated subject
matter jurisdiction and irreparable harm. Aatiogly, the Court does not reach the parties’
contentions with respect to the merits of the Plaintiff's claims.

The Court will address the jurisdictional issue and irreparable harm, in turn.



A. Asto Subject Matter Jurisdiction

“A motion for a preliminary injinction under Rule 65(a), or for a temporary restraining order

under Rule 65(b), does not conferbject matter jurisdiction on tlweurt.” Jones v. Cawley, No. 10-

CV-712, 2010 WL 2545738, at *1 (N.D.N.Y. June 21, 20tit)ng Citizens Concerned for Separation

of Church and State v. City and County ofiDer, 628 F.2d 1289, 1298-99 (1@h. 1980)); see also

Lathrop v. Unidentified, Wrecked & Abandon¥éssel, 817 F. Supp. 953, 961 (M.D. Fla. 1993)

(“A federal court may issue an injunction if it haersonal jurisdiction ovehe parties and subject

matter jurisdiction over the claim.”) (citing geda v. United States I.N.S., 753 F.2d 719 (9th

Cir.1983)).
Thus, “[a]s is true of civil actions generally, an independent basis for asserting federal question
or diversity jurisdiction must bghown,” in order for a court to @int preliminary relief. 11A Fed.

Prac. & Proc. Civ. § 2941 (3d ed.); see also Pdake Entm't Corp. v. Arquette, 113 F. Supp. 2d 322,

323 (N.D.N.Y. 2000) (“Before reaching the meritsR¥intiffs’ motion fora preliminary injunction
the Court will consider whether it has subject mattesdiction to hear Plaintiffs’ claims.”); DiNapoli
v. DiNapoli, No. 95 CIV. 7872 (SS), 1995 WL 555740*2(S.D.N.Y. Sept. 19, 1995) (Sotomayor, J)
(“Thus, according thipro se complaint the close and sympathegading to which it is entitled, . . . it
reveals no basis for the exercise of subject mpitesdiction over plaintiffs suit, which therefore
must be dismissed . . . . Plaffi requests for a temporary restriaig order and preliminary injunction
are denied.”).

Generally, “[w]here a challenge jarisdiction is interposed oan application for a preliminary
injunction ‘[t]he plaintiff is reqired to adequately establish thhére is at least a reasonable
probability of ultimate success uptre question of jurisdiction when the action is tried on the

merits.” Savoie v. Merchants Bank, 84 F.3d 52, 57@#d 1996) (quoting Visual Sciences, Inc. v.

Integrated Communications In660 F.2d 56, 59 (2d Cir. 1981)).




The complaint alleges thatishCourt has jurisdiction ovene Plaintiff's claims under 28
U.S.C. § 1331 — which confers original subjecttergjurisdiction over “ciit actions arising under
the Constitution, laws, or treaties of the United &tAtalso known as “fedak question jurisdiction”

— because “[t]his action arises under the Anti-fraud provision obdueirities Exchange Act of 1934
(15 U.S.C. § 78j(b)) and Securities and Exchafgemission Rule 10b-5 (17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5).”
(Compl., Dkt. No. 1, at 1 5.) In addition, theng@aint asserts that ti@ourt has subject matter
jurisdiction over this aatin on the basis of 15 U.S.C. § 78aa, which provides “exclusive” jurisdiction
to federal district courts over suits brought to ecgoviolations of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934 (the “Exchange Act”), 15 U.S.C. § 78bseq. (Seeid. at§5.)

The Defendants assert that this action doesmns® under the “anti-ftal provision” of the
Exchange Act or implicate 15 U.S.C. § 78aa becaumeéntire Complaint is based upon the breach of
a written agreement,” namely, the July 2015 SPANoi®. (The Defs.” Opp’n Mem. of Law, Dkt.

No. 23, at 2.)

In response, the Plaintiff comtgs that (i) it has sufficiently asrted a cause of action pursuant
to section 10(b) of the Exchanget and SEC Rule 10b-5, and therefothe Court has federal subject
matter jurisdiction over this action; and (ii) theraligersity of citizenshigpurisdiction over the action
pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1332(a), wihimonfers on federal courts angl subject matter jurisdiction
over “all civil actions wiere the matter in controversy exceeds the sum or value of $75,000, exclusive
of interest and costs, and is betm . . . citizens of different statd’s (See the Pl.’s Reply Mem. of
Law, Dkt. No. 23, at 3.) In turn, the Cowvill address each k& for jurisdiction.

1. Federal Question Jurisdiction

The complaint asserts seven causes of actionstghe Plaintiff for: (i) breach of the July
2015 Note and SPA by “willfully and unlawfully refuis§] to deliver the ©nversion shares”; (ii)
fraud in the inducement by making “fraudulent misesentations” in the “btes and Agreements”

that Endonovo “would not fail to corhpwith the conversion requiremts of the Notes”; (iii) lost



profits in connection with the Defendants’ allddaeaches of the July 2015 Note and SPA,; (iv)
litigation expenses in connection with the Defendants’ alleged breaches of the July 2015 Note and
SPA,; (v) violation of Section 10(b) of the Excharye and Rule 10b-5; (vi) a mandatory injunction
demanding that the Defendants “execute and dedivelocuments necessary to complete the
conversion process”; and (vintentional interérence with contract agairSollier for “intentionally
and with malice aforethought caumj] [Endonovo] to breach its caattual agreement with [the
Plaintiff].” (See Compl. at 1 13-61.)

Other than the Plaintiff'sfh cause of action for securitif®ud under Section 10(b) of the
Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5, the Pldiis other six causes of action aaét state common law
claims and remedies which revolve exclusivaigund the interpretation of the July 2015 SPA and
Note and not the interpretationtbie Exchange Act, or any othed&ral law. For that reason, these
six common law causes of action ot “arise under” federal law fgurposes of 28 U.S.C. § 1331.

See Mallgren v. Motion Recruitment Partnérs., No. 13-CV-1054 MKB, 2013 WL 1873304, at *3

(E.D.N.Y. May 2, 2013) (“All of Paintiff's claims, including breachf contract, negligence, and
fraudulent misrepresentation, sound in statedad do not provide a basis for exercising federal
jurisdiction.”).

Thus, the only remaining basis for federal questirisdiction is the Plaintiff’s fifth cause of
action for securities fraud under Section 10(kthef Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5. The Defendants
assert that this claim is duplicative of the Plainditfreach of contract claims and therefore, does not
state a claim under the Exchange Act.

Where, as here, a defendant challenges stulmatter jurisdiction by attacking the sufficiency
of a plaintiff's federal claims, the Second Circuit Btsted that a plaintiff need only show that his or
her “federal claim is colorable” in order foreiCourt to “properly assoe|] jurisdiction over the

subject matter of the suit.”_Savoie, 84 F.3d at 57. iBhi®t a particularly dficult standard to meet:

“[a] federal question claim should gnibe dismissed for lack of subjeniatter jurisdicton if it is ‘so
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insubstantial, implausible, foreclosed by prior dexisiof this Court, or berwise completely devoid

of merit as not to involve a federal contrasge™ Novikova v. IRS, No. 04-CV-5324 (DLI) (LB),

2007 WL 2891301, at *8 (E.D.N.Y. Bk 28, 2007) (alteration adde@juoting_ Lehman v. Discovery

Commc'ns, Inc., 217 F. Supp. 2d 342, 347 (E.D.R002));_see also Albert v. Blue Diamond

Growers, No. CV 15 4087(VMR015 WL 9450579, at *3 (S.D.N.Y. @21, 2015) (“The preliminary
showing that must be made by tlaintiff, however, is not meamd be overly burdensome, “allowing
for subject matter jurisdiction so long as ‘thdéeal claim is colorabl®) (quoting Cromer Fin. v.
Berger, 137 F.Supp.2d 452, 467 (S.D.N.Y. 2001)).

However, even assuming all inferences inRbantiff's favor, the Court agrees with the
Defendants that the Plaintiff's secuegifraud claim is not colorable.

The Plaintiff's securities fraud claim isded on a theory thatétDefendants engaged in
market manipulation. The complaint allegeattithe Defendants . . . engaged in knowing
manipulation and deceptive conduct by direotigresenting warranting that [Endonovo] and Collier
would honor its obligations pursuantttee Notes, and Agreement whertriath and in fact they had no
intention to do so.” (ComplDkt. No. 1, at § 41.)

Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act prohibits tise of “any manipulative or deceptive device
or contrivance” in violation of the SEC’s rules aegjulations “in connection with the purchase or sale
of any security.” 15 U.S.C.A. 8§ 78j(b). SECIRW0b-5 makes it unlawfdin connection with the
purchase or sale of any securifgt a person to (i) “employ any devicggheme, or artifice to defraud .
. . to make any untrue statement of a material fatti omit to state a materitdct necessary in order
to make the statements made, in the lighhefcircumstances under which they were made, not
misleading”; or (ii) “engage in any act, practice course of business whiciperates or would operate
as a fraud or deceit upon any person.” 17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5.

“Section 10(b), in proscribing the use of admpulative or deceptive device or contrivance,’

prohibits not only material misstatements but afsmipulative acts.” Wilsn v. Merrill Lynch & Co.,
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671 F.3d 120, 129 (2d Cir. 2011) (quoting ATSI Commc'ns, Inc. v. Shaar Fund, Ltd., 493 F.3d 87, 99

(2d Cir. 2007)). To state a claim for matknanipulation, a platiff must allege:
(1) manipulative acts; (2) damage (3) ®ad by reliance on an assumption of an
efficient market free of manipulation; (4)isoter; (5) in connection with the purchase
or sale of securities; (6) fuméred by the defendant's usdlod mails or any facility of a
national securities exchange.
Id. (quoting ATSI, 493.3d at 101).
With respect to the first element, “in order foarket activity to be manipulative, that conduct

must involve misrepresentation mondisclosure,” Wilsn, 671 F.3d at 130, as well as allegations of

“wash sales, matched orders, rigged pricespare other manipulatiwect intended to mislead

investors by artificially affectig market activity,” ATSI, 493 F.3d at 101 (emphasis added) (quoting

Santa Fe Indus. v. Green, 430 U.S. 462, 476-77, 97 S.Ct. 1292, 51 L.Ed.2d 480 (1977)).

“A claim of manipulation . . can involve facts solely Wiin the defendant’s knowledge;

therefore, at the early stageditation, the plaintiff need not plead manipulation to the same degree

of specificity as a plain misregsentation claim.”_ATSI Commcinc., 493 F.3d at 102. However,
“a manipulation complaint must plead with partaity the nature, purpose, and effect of the
fraudulent conduct and the roles of the defendants.™@eneral allegations naoied to the defendants
or resting upon speculation are insufficient”; rathefjhi§ test will be satisfied if the complaint sets
forth, to the extent possibleyhat manipulative acts were perfed, which defendants performed
them, when the manipulative acts were performedwdrat effect the scheme had on the market for

the securities at isstield. (quoting Baxterv. A.R. Baron & Co., No. 94 CIV 3913(JGK), 1995 WL

600720, at *1 (S.D.N.Y. Oct. 12, 1995)).

The complaint does not point to any misreggrgations or omissions, nor any affirmative
deceptive acts — such as wash trades, matchdddy or phantom shares — that were intended to
mislead investors by artificially affecting market attjiv The fact that the Dendants allegedly failed

to honor their obligations under the July 2015 Notd SPA does not plausibly give rise to an
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inference that they were sohmv intending to send a signalttee financial markets regarding
Endonovo’s common stock by doing so.

In its reply brief, the Plaintifasserts that the Defendants retuseconvert their debt under the
Notes into common stock “to keepetprice of the existing shares hegli (The Pl.’s Reply Mem. of
Law, Dkt. No. 25, at 2.)

However, there are no allegations supporting thesmhin the complaint. Even if there was
such an allegation, the Plaintiff's threadbare statement does notcleaké¢he circumstances of the
Defendants’ alleged manipulative acts — sashwhich Defendants performed them; when the
manipulative acts were performedidawhat effect the scheme had oa tharket for the securities at
issue. Rather, the Plaintiff's allegations ofrk& manipulation rely oabject speculation, which
courts have repeatedly held cannot form the lmdsassecurities fraud claim under the Exchange Act

and Rule 10b-5. See Taylor v. Westor TaGrp., 943 F. Supp. 2d 397, 403-04 (S.D.N.Y. 2013)

(“Moreover, even if Taylor could connect this scheiméis own purchase of securities, his allegations
regarding short sales are faptunspecific to survive dismissal. The First Amended Complaint
contains virtually no details abotltis alleged scheme: it is impossitib tell what manipulative acts
were performed, who performed thewhen they were performed, whesdcurities were involved, and

what effect this scheme had on the market foratsesurities.”); In re UB3uction Rate Sec. Litig.,

No. 08 CIV. 2967 (LMM), 2010 WL 2541166, at *19 (SNDY. June 10, 2010) (dismissing a market
manipulation claim because “assuming arguendo tleadltbgations with respeto Defendants in the
Amended Complaint identified conduct that carcbesidered manipulative or deceptive, the Court
finds that Plaintiffs failed to set forth when tlianipulative acts were perfoed, and what effect the

scheme had on the market for the securitiéssat[.]”); Cohen v. Stanovich, 722 F. Supp. 2d 416,

424 (S.D.N.Y. 2010) (“Plaintiffs’ broad and conclusatiegations of naked shaselling do not state a
claim for market manipulation. The AC containsallegations of wash transactions, matched orders

or other similar activity, and does redsert that the parties to thieged short sales were anything
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other than bona fide buyers and eddltrading at the reported pricetbé transaction. The fact that the
seller was allegedly unable to deliver the security on the settlement date — three days after the
transaction — does not transfornattegitimate sale into unMul market manipulation.”).

The Plaintiff’'s market manipation claim fails for the adtional reason that the alleged
fraudulent acts of the Defendants were not nffadeonnection with the puhase or sale of any
security.” 17 C.F.R. 8§ 240.10b-5. “[T]he Second Circuit has long recognized that ‘Rule [10b-5]
impose[s] liability for a proscribedct in connection with the purchase or sale of a security; it is not
sufficient to allege that a defendant has committesbagoibed act in a transaction of which the pledge

of a security is a part.”_Tdor, 943 F. Supp. 2d at 402 (quotingedhical Bank v. Arthur Andersen &

Co., 726 F.2d 930, 943 (2d Cir. 1984)).

Thus, courts have repeatedly dismissed clawmsre the alleged fraudulent acts had no impact
on the Plaintiff's decision to purchase a defendantsriges. See, e.q., id. (“In this case, Taylor's
allegations encompass behavior by the Westor Defeadaat post-dates hisasion to purchase any
of the securities in the Accoumtotably, he does not afje that the Westor Defendants’ behavior
impacted any of his purchasing decisions. The crukeflleged fraud appedsbe that the Westor
Defendants coveted the contentdhadf Account and thus froze it toeate enough financial pressure on
Taylor to sell at a steegiscount. But even if true, this condulties not amount to a federal securities

claim.”); Levitin v. PaineWebber, Inc., 933 Supp. 325, 329 (S.D.N.Y. 1996) aff'd, 159 F.3d 698 (2d

Cir. 1998) (“[T]he alleged nondisclosua¢issue in this case pains not to the sale of the securities or
the value of the securities themselves, but tadghas of the relationship between the broker and the
customer. Accordingly, the alleged nondisclosure adm¢€onstitute securities fraud in violation of

section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5."); Crummere vit8Barney, Harris Upham & Co., 624 F. Supp. 751,

755 (S.D.N.Y. 1985) (“To satisfy ¢hpurchase and sale requirements of rule 10b-5, there must be a
causal connection between the misstatements or @mssand the plaintiff’'s purchases or sales, and

there can be no such connection where thestaliement occurs after the purchase.”).
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Here, the Defendants’ alleged fraudulent aeteamely, refusing to convert their debt under
the Note into common stock — ocoed after the Plaintiff sent tH@efendants a Notice of Conversion
on January 21, 2016 seeking to obtain the Defestlantnmon stock. Thus, there is no causal
connection between the Defendanti&ged fraudulent acts and the RIl#f's decision to purchase the
Defendants’ common stock. While the Plaintiff'seghtions of the Defendasitalleged failure to
honor their conversion obligations under the July 2015 Notes and SPA may provide a basis for a
common law breach of contract claim, they fall wa#brt of providing a basis for a federal securities

fraud claim._See Korff v. Bank Julius Ba®iCo., No. 88 CIV. 4569 (MJL), 1990 WL 67771, at *3

(S.D.N.Y. May 14, 1990) (“Although platiffs’ allegations may provide ¢ghbasis for a claim of breach
of fiduciary duty or breach of caraict, they fall far short of proding the basis for a federal claim
under 8§ 10(b) or Rule 10b-5.”)

In sum, the Court finds that the complaint fadsallege a colorable claim under the Exchange
Act and Rule 10b-5, and therefore, has failed to shogasonable probabilithhat this action arises
under federal law for purposes of conferring federal subjettenjarisdction.

2. Diversity of Citizenship Jurisdiction

The complaint does not invoke diversity of citigbip as a basis for subject matter jurisdiction.
However, at oral argument and in a subsequditely legal memorandum, the Plaintiff for the first
time contends that “it is absollgeclear (and not denied) that tR®urt has diversity jurisdiction.”
(The PL’s Reply Mem. of Law, Dkt. No. 25, at 2.)

For their part, the Defendants did not address diversity of citizenship at oral argument or in
their opposition memoranda.

Where, as here, a plaintiff has failed to allegeolorable” federal claim, the Plaintiff must
show “at least a reasonable probability” that andblasis for federal jurisdiain, such as diversity of

citizenship, exists. See Savdsd, F.3d at 57 (quoting Visual Scies; Inc., 660 F.2d at 59); see also

Indus. Elecs. Corp. v. Cline, 330 F.2d 480, 482 (3d18i64) (“Where the challenge is interposed on
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an application for a preliminary imugtion, the plaintiff is required to aduately establish that there is
at least a reasonable probabilityuttimate success upon the questiojuofdiction when the action is

tried on the merits.”) (citation omitted); Weitan v. Stein, No. 70 CIV. 4037, 1991 WL 220960, at *1

(S.D.N.Y. Oct. 17, 1991) (same), aff'd, 963 F.2d 1521 (2d Cir. 1992)

The Court finds that the Plaifithas failed to meet its burde As noted, 28 U.S.C. § 1332
confers original federal jurisdiction over “all diactions where the matter in controversy exceeds the
sum or value of $75,000, exclusive of interest argl;@nd is between . citizens of different
states.” 28 U.S.C. § 1332(a).

Relevant here, “[t]he citizenship requirementdaoversity jurisdiction has been interpreted to
mean complete diversity so that each plaintiff'szeitiship must be different from the citizenship of

each defendant.” Briarpatch Ltd., L.P v. Phodpistures, Inc., 373 F.3d 296, 302 (2d Cir. 2004); see

also Caterpillar Inc. v. Lewis, 519 U.S. 61, 68, 117 S. Ct. 467, 472, 136 L. Ed. 2d 437 (1996) (“[T]his

Court construed the original Judiciary Act’s diversity provision to require complete diversity of

citizenship.”) (citing_Stravbridge v. Curtiss, 3 Cranch 267, 2 L. Ed. 435 (1806)).

Here, the complaint alleges ththe Plaintiff was a “corpot@n organized and existing under
the laws of the State of New York with an office business in the County of Nassau.” (Compl. at
8.) In addition, the complaint alleges thia@ Defendant Endonovo “has been and remains a
corporation organized and exiggi under the law of thtate of Delaware, within an office for
business in the State of Califi®, County of Los Angeles.”

For purposes of determining citizdnp, “a corporation is considst a citizen of the state in

which it is incorporated and theagt of its principal place of busiss.” Bayerischeandesbank, New

York Branch v. Aladdin Capital Mgmt. LLC, 692 F.3d 42, 48 (2d @012). Thus, construing the

allegations in the complaint as true, the Plaintiff is a citizen of New York, and the Defendant

Endonovo is a citizen of California and Delaware.
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However, the citizenship of the Defendant Coligeless clear. “An individual’s citizenship,

within the meaning of the diversistatute, is determined by his doitec’ Palazzo ex rel. Delmage v.

Corio, 232 F.3d 38, 42 (2d Cir. 2000). “Domicile teen described as the place where a person has
“his true fixed home and principal establishmetd to which, whenever he is absent, he has the

intention of returning.” Linardos v. Fortuna, 157 F.3d 9488 (2d Cir. 1998) (quoting 13B C.

Wright, A. Miller & E. Cooper, Federal Praog¢ and Procedure 8§ 3612, at 526 (2d ed. 1984)).

“[1t is well-established that allegations ofsidency alone cannotteblish citizenship[.]”

Canedy v. Liberty Mut. Ins. Co., 126 F.3d 100, 103 (2d ©397). That is because unlike domicile,

residency may or may not be permanent. For example, a person may have multiple residences but may

only have one true domicile. See Kennedy v. Besibf Testamentary dst of Will of Kennedy, 633

F. Supp. 2d 77, 81 (S.D.N.Y. 2009), aff'd, 406 F. App'x 507 (2d Cir. 2010) (“Domicile is not
synonymous with residence; a party can resiadmeplace and be domiciled in another.”) (citing

Mississippi Band of Choctaw Indians v. Hiigld, 490 U.S. 30, 47-49, 109 S.Ct. 1597, 104 L.Ed.2d

29 (1989)).
Thus, courts have repeatedly found that comiddailed to allege dersity of citizenship

jurisdiction where the allegatiofigcus solely on a party’s residence. See Young-Gibson v. Patel, 476

F. App'x 482, 483 (2d Cir. 2012) (summarder) (“It is well-establishethat allegations of residency
alone cannot establish whether parties are ‘citizenffefent states’ for th purposes of establishing
subject matter jurisdiction under section 1332 .Although Patel does not m®this issue, subject

matter jurisdiction is a ‘tleshold question that must be resolved before proceeding to the merits,’

Steel Co. v. Citizens forRetter Env’t, 523 U.S. 83, 88-89, 118 S.Ct. 1003, 140 L.Ed.2d 210 (1998),
and we conclude that Young—Gibson has failed prygperéllege diversityurisdiction.”); Davis v.
Cannick, No. 14-CV-7571 (SJF)(SIL), 2015 WL 19544&1*3 (E.D.N.Y. Apr. 29, 2015) (dismissing

a complaint for lack of subject matter jurisdictioecause “[tlhe complaint is devoid of any facts

regarding plaintiff's m-incarceration domiciler upon which it may reasonably be inferred that
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plaintiff was a domiciliary or citizen of the Statekbrida at the time he commenced this action.”);

Vargas v. Pers., No. 13 CIV. 4699 (KBF), 2014 WL 1054021, at *3 (S.D.N.Y. Mar. 17, 2014) (“The

simple statement that he is a ‘resident ofGlitgy of Kissimmee and Statof Florida,” without a
showing of his intention to return to and remairrlarida, is insufficient. Given the evidence on this
motion, plaintiff's complaint does no&ise the plausibilityf diversity of citizenship here ‘above the

speculative level.”) (quoting Bell Atl. Gp. v. Twombly, 550 U.S. 544, 555 (2007)).

In the present case, the comptatates that “Collier has beand remains a resident of the
State of California, County of Lasngeles.” (Compl. at  10.) Evefrtrue, this allegation is not
sufficient for the Court to infer that the Plaintiff is a California domicile and thereby a California
citizen.

The Plaintiff asserted at oratgument and in its legal memadum that Collier is a California
citizen, and the Defendants do appear to dispute that allejgact. However, without any
allegations in the complaint to substantiateRkaentiff’'s assertion, noany other evidence in the
record from which the Court might determine thaiitiff’'s domicile, the @urt declines to assume
that the Plaintiff is a California citizen, particulawhen “it is well established that ‘[tlhe party
seeking to invoke jurisdiction under 28 U.S.CL382 bears the burden of demonstrating that the

grounds for diversity exist and thdiversity is complete.”_Herck Co. v. SCS Commc’ns, Inc., 251

F.3d 315, 322-23 (2d Cir. 2001) (quwiAdvani Enter., Inc. v. Underiters at Lloyds, 140 F.3d 157,

160 (2d Cir. 1998)).

In sum, the Court finds that the Plaintiff falléo establish that the Court has subject matter
jurisdiction over thisaction, or a reasonable probability thattsjurisdiction exists. As such, the
Court denies the Plaintiff's matn for a preliminary injunction argla sponte dismisses the complaint
without prejudice. However, theoGrt grants the Plaintiff leave fible an amended complaint within
thirty days of the date of this Order from which the Court may ascertain whether it has subject matter

jurisdiction ove this action.
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B. Astolrreparable Harm

Even if there was subject matter jurisdictmrer this action, the Court would still deny the
Plaintiff's request for preliminary relief becausénds that the Plaintiff has not established
irreparable harm.

“A showing of irreparable harm is ‘the singteost important prerequisite for the issuance of a

preliminary injunction.” Faiveley Transp. Ntao AB v. Wabtec Corp., 559 F.3d 110, 118 (2d Cir.

2009) (quoting Rodriguez v. DeBuono, 175 F.3d 227, 234{2dL999)). “To sasfy the irreparable

harm requirement, Plaintiffs must demonstrate alhaent a preliminary injunction they will suffer ‘an
injury that is neither remote nor speculatiat actual and imminentand one that cannot be

remedied ‘if a court waits until the end of trial teobse the harm.” Grand River Enter. Six Nations,

Ltd. v. Pryor, 481 F.3d 60, 66 (2d Cir. 2007) (quotitgedom Holdings, Inc. v. Spitzer, 408 F.3d 112,

114 (2d Cir. 2005)).
“As a general matter, because monetajyryncan be estimated and compensated, the

likelihood of such injury usually does not constitiiteparable harm.”_Brenag Int'| Chemicals, Inc.

v. Bank of India, 175 F.3d 245, 249 (2d Cir. 1999); see Bivotal Payments, Inc. v. Phillips, No. CV

14-4910 (GRB), 2014 WL 6674621, at *3 (E.D.N.Y. N@%, 2014) (“If the injury complained of
may be compensated by an award of monetary dasntgen an adequate remedy at law exists and no

irreparable harm may be found as a matter of lxparenthetically quotig Gen. Textile Printing &

Processing Corp. v. Expromtorg Int’l o, 862 F. Supp. 1070, 1075 (S.D.N.Y. 1994)).

In the present case, the PIdifdiinjuries arise from the Defendts’ refusal to comply with the
Plaintiff's January 21, 2016 election to “conv$ft5,000 of the $33,000 due under the July 2015 Note
into 95,663 shares of common st@tkhe conversion price of $.1568 hare.” (See Kramer Aff.,

Ex. G.)
The Note specifically provides monetary renesdin the event that Endonovo fails to comply

with a valid notice of conversionaeived from the Plaintiff. Specifically, Article 1.4(e) provides that
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in the event that Endonovo failsdeliver common stock to the Plaintiff within three business days of
receipt of a notice afonversion, Endonovo “shall pay the [Plaintiff] $2,000 per day in cash,” which
amount will be “added to the principal amount” of $33,000 due under the Note, plus interest. (See
Kramer Aff., Ex. A, at Art. 1.4(e)at pp. 6—7.) In addition, Articléllof the Note describes a failure

by Endonovo to “issue shares of Common Stock t¢Rkntiff] . . . upon exasise by the [Plaintiffs]

of the conversion rights of the [Plaintiff]” as agfault,” which renders the Note immediately due and
payable and provides for additional damages accordiagpecific formula provided for in Article lll.
(Id. at Arts. 3.2, 3.16, at pp. 14-15, 17.)

Based on these provisions, if as the Plaintifigees, the Defendants bodeed the terms of the
July 2015 SPA and Note by failing to conv&15,000 of the $33,000 due under the July 2015 Note
into 95,663 shares of common stockién the Note provides for @idequate remedy at law in the
form of monetary damages.

The Plaintiff appears to concethis point but neverthelesssass that it has established
irreparable harm because (i) the Defendants are ®hbrihk of insolvency based upon the contents of
the debtor’'s Form 10-K”; and (ii) Endonovo “consehie the governing instraents to a finding of
irreparable harm and injunctive relief.” (TR&’s Reply Mem. of Lw, Dkt. No. 25, at 3—4.)

In response, the Defendants astwat (i) the Courtacks the authority tessue an injunction
solely on the basis of insolven@and (ii) Endonovo “has sufficient funds pay this obligation if it is
found to be legally valid and enfaable.” (The Defs.” Opp’n Menaf Law, Dkt. No. 23, at 3—4.)

The Court agrees.
As to the Plaintiff’s first cordgntion — namely, that a defendanpending insolvency can give

rise to irreparable harm sufficient to justify a&lminary injunction— in Benntag Int’l Chemicals,

Inc. v. Bank of India, 175 F.3d 245, 249 @a. 1999), the Second Circuit stated:

As a general matter, because monetaryyngan be estimated and compensated, the
likelihood of such injury usually does not ctihge irreparable harm . . . . However, a
perhaps more accurate description of theuohgtances that constitute irreparable harm
is that where, but for the grant of equitat#bef, there is a subsntial chance that upon
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final resolution of the action the partiesoat be returned to the positions they
previously occupied . ._. . For this reasoouyrts have excepted from the general rule
regarding monetary injursituations involving obligations owed by insolvents.

Id. (internal citations oitted) (emphasis added).

Subsequently, the United States Supreme tGo@rupo Mexicano de Desarrollo S.A. v. All.

Bond Fund, Inc., 527 U.S. 308, 308, 119 S. Ct. 1961, 188B|.. Ed. 2d 319 (1999) appeared to cast

doubt on the continued vitality of the broad exeapfor insolvency outlined in Brenntag.

In Grupo, investors who held notes in a Mericempany experiencirfghnancial difficulties
filed suit in federal court seeking breach of caot damages and requesting a preliminary injunction
restraining the company from traasfing its remaining assets to Mean creditors. _Id. at 312. The
district court entered a preliminamjunction freezing the companyassets because (i) it found that
the company was “at risk of insolvency” and plannedde its assets to satisfy Mexican creditors; (ii)
as a result, the investors had d&strated irreparable injury; and)(the investors were likely to
succeed on the merits of their brkabf contract claim. _Id. &12-13. The Second Circuit affirmed
the decision.

In Grupo, the Supreme Court, wilhistice Scalia writing for thmajority, reversed. See id. at
333. Justice Scalia reasoned that federal cderise their jurisdictin to issue preliminary
injunctions on the basis of thadlciary Act of 1789, which providdederal courts with the same

“jurisdiction in equity exercisetdy the High Court of Chancery ohBland at the time of the adoption

of the Constitution and the enactment of the oabiludiciary Act, 1789.” 1d. at 318 (quoting A.

Dobie, Handbook of Federal Jsaliction and Proceder660 (1928)). The United Statesaascus
curiae argued that the preliminary imjction issued by the district wd was “analogous to the relief
obtained in the equitable actions knowredsreditor’s bill.” 1d. at 319.

Justice Scalia rejected that argument, findirag th]t was well established, however, that, as a

general rule, a creditor’s bill calibe brought only by a creditor who had already obtained a judgment
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establishing the debt.” Id. Aseliminary relief was by necessitysued prior to gudgment, Justice
Scalia found that a preliminary relief in aafla creditor was not available in equity:

[A] general creditor (one ithout a jJudgment) had no cognida interest, either at law
or in equity, in the property of his debtand therefore could natterfere with the
debtor’s use of that propgrtAs stated by Chancellor Kent: ‘The reason of the rule
seems to be, that until the creditor has estaddishis title, he has no right to interfere,
and it would lead to an unnecessary,gerhaps, a fruitless and oppressive
interruption of the exercisaf the debtor’s rights.’

Id. at 319-320 (quoting Wiggins v. ArmstrongJéhns. Ch. 144, 145-146 (N.Y. 1816)). He further

noted:
[W]e suspect there is absolutely nothing redyut debtors’ tryingo avoid paying their
debts, or seeking to favor some creditover others . . . . The law of fraudulent
conveyances and bankruptcy was develdpgatevent such conduct; an equitable
power to restrict a debtor’s use of his noembered property befojgdgment was not.
Id. at 322.

Justice Scalia further distinguished thegant case from Deckertindependence Shares

Corp., 311 U.S. 282, 61 S.Ct. 229, 85 L.Ed. 189 (194®Deckert, the purchasers of stock
certificates asserted a claim under the Secudte®f 1933 against the company that sold the
certificates and the administrator of a trust hajdime common stock, alleging that the sale of the
certificates was fraudulent and semwkequitable remedies of ressisn and restitution. Id. at 285.
The plaintiffs also sought a prelinary injunction preventing the trust from transferring any assets
because the company was in danger of insolvendynas likely to transfer its assets to other
creditors. _Id. at 285-286. Afteedding that the complaint stateda@use of action for equitable relief
under the Securities Act, the Cbaoncluded that “the injuncth was a reasonable measure to
preserve the status quo pending fitetermination of the questionaised by the bill.”_Id. at 290.

The Majority in_Grupo found Deckert to be “rmnt point” because Grupovolved a legal, not

equitable, breach of contract claim for monet@aynages — “[t]he preliminary relief available in a
suit seeking equitable relief has nothing to do withgreliminary relief available in a creditor’s bill

seeking equitable assistance ia tollection of a legal debt.Grupo, 527 U.S. at 325. And, because a
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preliminary injunction “was historally unavailable from a court @quity,” the Court held “that the

District Court had no authority iesue a preliminary injunction preventing petitioners from disposing

of their assets pending adjudication of respondeatstract claim for money damages.” Id. at 333.
The Second Circuit appears to not have had occasion to re-visit the “insolvency” exception

outlined in_Brenntag in light dhe Supreme Court’s decision_inupo. However, other courts have

interpreted Grupo to stand for thanciple that courts cannot isspreliminary injunctions based

solely on the insolvency of dedys where the plaintiffs’ underlying claims primarily seek monetary

damages. See U.S. ex rel. Rahman v. @ggoAssociates, 198 F.3d 4896 (4th Cir. 1999) (“A

debt claim leads only to a money judgment and doés its own right constitute an interest in
specific property. Accordingly, @bt claim does not, before reduction to judgment, authorize

prejudgment execution against the debtor’s asyetevy v. Young Adult Irst., Inc., No. 13-CV-2861

(JPO), 2015 WL 170442, at *6 (S.D.N.Y. Jan. 13, 2q15)wer courts have generally interpreted

Grupo Mexicano to bar preliminaryjumctions in cases that seekrparily legal remedies.”); Oak

Leaf Outdoors, Inc. v. Double Dragon Int’lcdn812 F. Supp. 2d 944, 947 (C.D. lll. 2011) (“As Grupo

Mexicano makes clear, this Court does not heeauthority to issue a preliminary injunction
preventing Oak Leaf from disposing its assets — in the form afconstructive trust, escrow, asset
freeze, or some other similar relief — pendinguditation of DDI’s contract claim for money

damages.”); JSC Foreign Econ. Ass'n Technostroyexport v. Int'l Dev. & Trade Servs., Inc., 295 F.

Supp. 2d 366, 389 (S.D.N.Y. 2003) (“Because the plaintiff's action is one for money damages, and
because the plaintiff asserts no lierequitable interest in the assitseeks to restrain, this Court
lacks the power to grant the preliminary injunction it seeks.”).

On the other hand, courts have held thatg@rdoes not preclude a court from entering a
preliminary injunction to protedhe assets where the plaintiffimderlying claims are primarily
equitable in nature. See Rahman, 198 F.3d at 497 (“fid}& begin with an analysis of the claims in

suit to determine whether they semignizable relief in equity inveing assets of the defendant. We
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then proceed to determine whetkie interim relief sought — in thisase the preliminary injunction
freezing assets — is a reasonable measure to prekersgtus quo in aid of the ultimate equitable

relief claimed.”);_Corp. Comm'n d¥lille Lacs Band of Ojibwe Indins v. Money Centers of Am., Inc.,

915 F. Supp. 2d 1059, 1063 (D. Minn. 2013) (“In @aurt’'s view, the biger reading of Grupo

Mexicano and Deckert focuses on #ssence of the action and theesgth of the alleged equitable

interest.”).

In the present case, the Pldintisserts legal claims — namelyghch of contract and tortious
interference — and an equitable claim — namelydri the inducement. In addition, Plaintiff seeks
monetary relief in the form of compensatory dansadmst profits, and litigation expenses, as well as
equitable relief in the form of a permanentuimgtion directing the Defendgs to comply with the
Plaintiff's January 21, 2018otice of Conversion.

However, the Court finds that although soméhef Plaintiff's claims sound in equity, those
claims are entirely duplicative of the Plaintiff's breach of contract claims. Specifically, the parties’
relationship is governed by thenes of the July 2015 Note and SPA, and the Defendants’ alleged
failure to submit to the Plaintiff's Notice ofd@version is a breach of those agreements. The
Plaintiff's entitlement to reliebn both its contract arehuitable claims is Is&d on interpreting the
Note and SPA and not based on the principlexjafty, such an unjust sohment. Indeed, the
Plaintiff's fraud in the inducement claim is bdsan alleged “fraudulent miiepresentation[s] of

[Endonovo] and Collier contained withihe Notes and Agreements asahfirmed within resolutions

of the Board of Directors of éhCorporate Defendant including mdt limited to the representations
that [Endonovo] would not fail to corhypwith the conversion requiremeof the Notes[.]” (Compl.,
Dkt. No. 1, at 1 29.) Thus, the essence of thenffizs fraud claim is a breach of the Defendants’
obligations under the July 2015 Note and SPA, rmeach of a fiduciary or other duty imposed

outside the four corners of tiparties’ written contracts.
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Furthermore, although the PlafhBeeks equitable relief in term of a preliminary injunction
directing the Defendants to convéreir debt into common stock, t®urt finds, as discussed above,
that the July 2015 SPA and Note provide therflawith an adequate legal remedy for the
Defendants’ refusal to convert thetock in the form of liquidatedamages at the rate of $2,000 per
day, an acceleration of the remaining indebteduedsr the Note, and an additional “default sum”
according to a formula outlined in Article 11l of the Note.

Under these circumstances, the Court finas the Plaintiff's request for a preliminary
injunction is made primarily to protect the Defendaassets in the eveittsucceeds on its breach of

contract claims for monetary dages, a result that is plainlygiribited by Grupo. See Corp. Comm’n

of Mille Lacs Band of Ojibwe Indians, 915 Supp. 2d at 1064 (“The Court concludes that the

‘principal objects’ of this suit are money damagmsa breach of contractpd therefore the requested

injunction is barred by the Supren@ourt’s holding in Grupo Mexic®.”); Oak Leaf Outdoors, Inc.,

812 F. Supp. 2d at 947 (denying a preliminary injlamcbecause “DDI has failed to persuade the
Court that it is pursuing equitable claims for reliefagdl as a legal claim fdsreach of contract”); JSC

Foreign Econ. Ass’n Technostroyexport, 295 F. S@gdpat 389 (denying a plaiff's request for a

preliminary injunction because “[tlhe equitable retledt the plaintiff seeks, including the setting aside
of alleged fraudulent conveyancesinsidental to, and indeed contingent upon the success of, the
plaintiff's alter ego action. Before the plaintiff caaek equitable relief in enforcing the prior
judgment, it must prove the legal liabilit§ Reich and Jossem aKker egos”).

The Court is not persuaded by the Rtifiils arguments tdhe contrary.

The Plaintiff cites to Castle Creek Tech. Partners, LLC v. CellPoint Inc., No. 02 CIV. 6662

(GEL), 2002 WL 31958696, at *1 (S.D.N.Y. Dec. 9, 2002) thiat case, the plaintiff-investor sought a
preliminary injunction requiring the defendantdeliver shares of common stock pursuant to a
convertible promissory note similar to the one ategsuthis case. |Id. &1—3. Applying the rule in

Brenntag, the coufbund irreparable harm because “the plaintiff provided ample and specific evidence
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that CellPoint is at the brink of insolvency, ahdt by the conclusion of the litigation, CellPoint may
be in no position to satisfy a mongyglgment or an injunction.”dl. The Court does not find Castle
Creek to be applicable reefor several reasons.

First, Castle Creek is an upaated district court opion that is not bindig on this court, and it
does not address Grupo and the subsequent deassonssed above. Thus, to the extent Castle

Creek is analogous, the Court respectfully declindslkow it. See Black Mountain Equities, Inc. v.

Pac. Gold Corp., No. 2:12-CV-01285 (KM)L(®/), 2012 WL 5986488, at *12 (D.N.J. Nov. 27, 2012)

(declining to follow unreported New York federal capesviding for preliminaryrelief in the event of

insolvency because “[a] number of these caga® decided before Grupo Mexicano, and none of

them mention Grupo Mexicano”).

Second, the complaint in Castle Creek did eeksnonetary relief butither, a declaratory
judgment as to the conversion price of the plaintiff's shares and a mandatory injunction. Thus, the sole
basis for relief in Castle Creakas equitable in nature. Tleéore, Grupo — which only precludes
preliminary relief for claims seeking primarilyanetary damages — arguably did not apply to the
plaintiff's claims in_Castle Creek.

Here, by contrast and as explained above, the leamhgounds primarily iforeach of contract,
and the Plaintiff has a perfectlyeqliate legal remedy in the fowhmonetary damages provided for
in the July 2015 Note. Accordingly, Grumoapplicable to this case and preclsittes Court from

entering a preliminary injunction prior to a judgmen the Plaintiff's breach claims. See Black

Mountain Equities, Inc., 2012 WL 5986488, at *1BIgick Mountain’s prelirmary injunction motion,
although couched in equitable terms, is more ptppgewed as an attempt to secure a money
judgment to which it may someday be entitled.”).

Third, even to the extent th@astle Creek could be read supporting a broad “insolvency
exception” to the issue of irreparable harm inresashere monetary relief otherwise provides an

adequate legal remedy, the facts of Castle Crexklaarly distinguishable. In Castle Creek, the

26



defendant had not only issued ftaal statements indicating thigg continued solvency was a going
concern, but had also defaulted on its requiredestgpayments twice, and its stock price was
“delisted” for a period of ten days. See id. at *1-2.

Here, to prove Endonovo’s insolvency, the Rt relies primarily on a Form 10-Q filed by
Endonovo with the SEC for the quarterly period ending on September 30, 2015. The 10-Q lists the
Plaintiff as having $61,755 in assets and $5,991,24&tah liabilities. (See Endonovo September 30,
2015 10-Q at 4.) In addition, the 10-Q states, “Cloepany is raising additional capital through debt
and equity securities in order tortinue funding its operation. Howey¢here is no assurance that the
Company can raise enough funds or generate suffi@eahues to pay its obligations as they become
due, which raises substantial doubbat our ability to continue asgoing concern.” _(ld. at 8.)

However, the Defendants filed an affidavit®@gllier and Frank J. Haton, Esqg., an attorney
for Endonovo who helped to draft the Plaintiff’'s 10d@sputing the imporof the “going concern”
statements in their 10-Q. (See Harion Aff., Dkt. No. 24-2, at 1|1 3, 4; CaifieDkt. No. 24-1, at |
5-7.) More importantly, unlike the defendant-gany in_Castle Creek, Endonovo has not missed any
interest or principal payments. To the contrarpaid off in full the $33,000 iprincipal and interest
due under the first promissory note despite having blerating income. _(Setariton Aff. at  4.)

Thus, there is reason to believe that despéeltre picture paintely the unaudited financial
statements in Endonovo’s most recent 10-Q, Endonmyphave sufficient funds to pay the balance
on the July and August 2015 Notes, or any dgsaesulting from their alleged breaches.

Therefore, even if the insolvency exception outlimeBrenntag is still viable in a case such as
this, the Plaintiff has failed to provide “ample evidence” showing that the Defendants will be unable to

pay damages if the Plaintiff succeeds in its breaatoofract claims. See Pivotal Payments, Inc. v.

Phillips, No. CV 14-4910 (GRB), 2014 WL 667462t *4 (E.D.N.Y. Nov. 25, 2014) (“In this

instance, CardFlex is not insolvent, and maintthas it remains ‘an ongoingable business.’ . . ..
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While the parties vigorously dispute the import offcial statements relagj to CardFlex, plaintiff
has failed to demonstrate that any ‘riskredolvency is likely and imminent.”).

The Plaintiff also relies on language in th&y 015 Note and SPA which it contends indicates
that the Defendants consented to a preliminary injonc (See the Pl.’s Reply Mem. of Law, Dkt. No.
25, at 4.) In particular, Articl of the July 2015 SPA, states tifdEndonovo breaches its conversion
obligations under the Note or the SPA, then:

[Endonovo] acknowledges that the remedy at law for a breach of its obligations under

this Section 5 may be inadequate and agiadble event of a breach or threatened

breach by [Endonovo] of the provisions of tBisction, that the [Plaintiff] shall be

entitled, in addition to all bier available remedies, to anunction restraining any

breach and requiring immediate transfeithaut the necessity of showing economic
loss and without any bond oralr security bieag required.

(Id. at Art. 5, at pp. 15-16) (emphasis added).
However, “contractual language declaring modagnages inadequate in the event of a breach

does not control the question whether preliminamyrinjive relief is appropriate Baker’s Aid, a Div.

of M. Raubvogel Co. v. Hussmann Foodseryee, 830 F.2d 13, 16 (2d Cir. 1987). Although, the
Court may consider such language as a facttiranrreparable harm analysis, “the Court remains
obliged to make an independent determination agh&gther injunctive relieis appropriate.” In re

M.B. Int'l W.W.L., No. 12 CIV. 4945 (DLC)2012 WL 3195761, at *12 (S.N.Y. Aug. 6, 2012); see

also Ins. Co. of the State of Pennsylvanibakeshore Toltest JV, LLNo. 15 CIV. 1436 (ALC),

2015 WL 8488579, at *2 (S.D.N.Wov. 30, 2015) (same); Firemen’s Ins. Co. of Newark, New

Jersey v. Keating, 753 F. Supp. 1146, 1154 (S.D.N.Y. 199@Q) i€[tlear that theparties to a contract

cannot, by including certain languagelat contract, create a rightitgunctive relief where it would
otherwise be inappropriate.”).

Here, the Court finds that the Plaintiff has detnonstrated irreparabharm sufficient to
justify a preliminary injunction. Thus, althougtetbontractual language in the SPA providing for
preliminary relief is relevant to the question of irreparable hansinivt dispositive of the Court’s

analysis.
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Accordingly, the Court finds that even ithiad jurisdiction over thiaction, the Plaintiff's
motion for a preliminary injunction would fail becausédoes not adequately demonstrate irreparable
harm.

1. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the Court deniesPtaintiff's motion for preliminary injunction.
The Court further dismisses the Plaintiff's complawthout prejudice and with leave to renew within
thirty days of the date of this Order so as to ¢hegjurisdictional deficiencies identified by the Court.
SO ORDERED.

Dated: Central Islip, New York
March 1, 2016
/sl Arthur D. Spait

ARTHUR D. SPATT
United States District Judge
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